# **Study Protocol**

## Version 1.0

Randomized Trial to Increase Adherence to Cervical Cancer Screening Guidelines for Young Women

Decreasing Overtreatment and Screening (DOTS) Study

## **Principal Investigator:**

Anna-Barbara Moscicki, MD

## **Co-Investigators:**

Heike Thiel de Bocanegra, PhD, MPH Christine Dehlendorf, MD, MAS George Sawaya, MD Miriam Kuppermann, PhD, MPH

## Supported by:

## Patient Centered Outcomes Research Institute (PCORI)

CD-1304-6551

Version 1.0

April 30, 2015

## **Table of Contents**

PROJECT SUMMARY 4
STUDY TEAM 5
STUDY GOAL AND OBJECTIVES 7
BACKGROUND AND SIGNIFICANCE
Impact of Condition on Health of Individuals and Populations8
Screening and Management Guidelines10
Impact on Health Care Performance11
Relevance to Patients12
STUDY DESIGN13
Overview13
Study Population13
Selection of Participants14
Inclusion Criteria14
STUDY METHODOLOGY15
Study Intervention15
Choice of Comparators15
Development of the PCA Intervention16
Technology Design17
Final Product Development17
Final Pilot Testing18
Development of the Mobile Application Based Intervention for Providers19
Study Implementation Procedures19
Study Enrollment Procedures19
Quality Assurance21
Satisfaction Survey21
Progress Review21
Sample Size Estimates and Power Calculations21
ANALYTIC METHODS23
PROTECTION OF HUMAN SUBJECTS26
REFERENCES
APPENDICES (See Attachment)

#### **PROJECT SUMMARY**

**BACKGROUND** Screening with cytology has accompanied large decreases in cervical cancer mortality in the US. However, cytology remains a relatively non-specific test resulting in needless invasive procedures for many women. Studies show that young women are specifically vulnerable since over-screening results in overtreatment with excisional therapies that have been associated with premature delivery and emotional distress. Current national guidelines recommend that routine screening be performed at less-frequent intervals and excisional cervical therapies are discouraged in young women. Uptake of these guidelines has been low for several reasons: many women expect annual cytology, physicians may have financial incentives and/or are not aware of current guidelines. **OBJECTIVES** To examine physician- and patient-based interventions designed to decrease overscreening and overtreatment by increasing adherence to US guidelines for women under 30 years of age. Specifically, the interventions will focus on increasing average intervals between screening and decreasing the number of excisional procedures. The long-term objective is to identify effective strategies to increase adherence to screening guidelines nationwide. **METHODS** We will conduct a randomized intervention clinic with two arms and use Family PACT administrative data for sampling, baseline, and outcome assessment. We will select 14 clinics from the Family PACT provider network that evaluate at least 200 female clients under 30 years of age per year. Clinics will be randomized to 1 of 2 arms: 1) mobile application (APP)-based intervention for providers, and 2) APP-based intervention for providers plus patient-centered approach (PCA) intervention. These groups will be compared to a comparison group of 7 clinics chosen at random (those not randomized). The APP intervention is for clinicians' mobile phones and will maneuver them through current guidelines based on age and condition. The PCA intervention will be patients' education using a tablet at the time of check-in to assist in understanding guidelines, asking questions of their providers, and assist them in evaluating treatment options. Family PACT serves predominantly uninsured women and 40% of clients are Latina. Development of the interventions will be conducted with input from all stakeholders including women from the community who are members of the National Cervical Cancer Coalition, and the Latina Contra Cancer, the American Congress of Obstetricians and Gynecologists, the State Office of Family Planning, the American Society for Colposcopy and Cervical Pathology and Quest laboratories. We plan to enroll 7 sites into each intervention arm with an average of 2800 to 3500 women aged 21-29 years per arm with a similar number of sites and women randomly chosen for the comparison arm resulting in a total of 21 sites and 8400-10500 women. Outcomes will be compared between study arms using t-test adjusting for clustering by clinic. PATIENT OUTCOMES We will use Family PACT claims data to calculate for each clinic by age, the number of and average interval between cytology specimens, colposcopy examinations and the number of excisional procedures. SIGNIFICANCE We will define successful interventions that will reduce unnecessary screening and treatment for cervical cancer screening in young women.

### **STUDY TEAM**

#### **Principal Investigator:**

Anna-Barbara Moscicki, MD

Professor, Department of Pediatrics David Geffen School of Medicine at UCLA University of California, Los Angeles 22-432 Marion Davies Children's Center Tel: (310) 206-6345 Email: AMoscicki@mednet.ucla.edu

#### **Co-Investigators:**

Heike Thiel de Bocanegra, PhD, MPH

Associate Professor and Director, UCSF Family PACT Evaluation Bixby Center for Global Reproductive Health Department of Obstetrics, Gynecology, and Reproductive Sciences University of California, San Francisco Tel: (916) 552-8793 E-mail: Heike.Thiel@dhcs.ca.gov OR thielh@obgyn.ucsf.edu

Christine Dehlendorf, MD, MAS

Associate Professor in Residence, Departments of Family & Community Medicine, Obstetrics, Gynecology & Reproductive Sciences, and Epidemiology & Biostatistics University of California, San Francisco School of Medicine 1001 Potrero Ave, SFGH 20 San Francisco CA 94143 Tel: (415) 206-8712 Email: Christine.Dehlendorf@ucsf.edu

George Sawaya, MD

Professor, Departments of Obstetrics, Gynecology & Reproductive Sciences and Epidemiology & Biostatistics
The Robert B. Domush MD Chair, Obstetrics and Gynecology Education Education Lead, UCSF Center for Healthcare Value
University of California, San Francisco School of Medicine
550 16th Street, Floor 7, Box 0132
San Francisco, CA 94143
Tel: (415) 502-4090
Email: George.Sawaya@ucsf.edu

Professor, UCSF School of Medicine, OB/GYN, Reproductive Sciences University of California, San Francisco School of Medicine 550 16th St. Mission Bay San Francisco, CA 94143 Tel: (415) 502-4089 Email: Miriam.Kuppermann@ucsf.edu

#### **Project Coordinator:**

Charlene Chang, MPH, MA

DOTS Study Project Coordinator David Geffen School of Medicine at UCLA Department of Pediatrics 22-458 Marion Davies Children's Center Tel: (626) 689-9335 Email: charlene.chang@ucla.edu

## STUDY GOAL AND OBJECTIVES

#### **Study Goal:**

This study's goals are to increase physician and patient adherence to cervical cancer screening guidelines with the ultimate aim of obtaining better health and well-being for women under 30 years of age.

#### **Study Objectives:**

To examine physician- and patient-based interventions designed to decrease overscreening and overtreatment by increasing adherence to US guidelines for women under 30 years of age. Specifically, the interventions will focus on increasing average intervals between screening and decreasing the number of colposcopy examinations and excisional procedures. The long-term objective is to identify effective strategies to increase adherence to screening guidelines nationwide.

## **BACKGROUND AND SIGNIFICANCE**

#### **Impact of Condition on Health of Individuals and Populations**

Beginning in the 1950's routine screening for cervical cancer began in the U.S. using Papanicolau smear or cytology. Since then, rates of cervical cancer in the U.S. have decreased by more than 60% specifically in women aged 30 years and older. <sup>1</sup> The age distribution of cervical cancer shows that young women (those 30 and younger) rarely develop cervical cancer with rates less than 2 per 100,000. After 30 years of age there is a rise in CC incidence with a median age of 47 years. This observation is closely linked to the natural history of HPV, the cause of cervical cancer. High risk (HR) HPV infections are those types associated with cervical cancer.

HR-HPV is an extremely common sexually transmitted infection that begins shortly after the onset of sexual activity.<sup>2,3</sup> Partner studies show that HPV is easily transmitted between couples with estimated transmission of 100% after 11 acts of sexual intercourse. <sup>4,5</sup> Lifetime risk of acquiring a cervical HPV infection is around 80%. HPV is most commonly found in women 25 year and younger with prevalence rates around 20%. Notably, there is a decline in prevalence starting around 30 years of age which is time where CC begins to rise.<sup>6</sup> The high rates observed in young women is closely paralleled by the high rate of low grade abnormalities on cytology in this age group.<sup>7</sup> We now know that these low grade abnormalities are merely benign reflections of active viral replication. We also now know that most (90%) of women will show clearance of these infections which is thought to occur through both innate and adaptive immune responses which likely protect women from re-infections explaining the decline of HPV with age. <sup>6,8,9</sup> On the other hand, persistent HPV infection is the cause of cervical cancer and data shows that cervical cancer develops only after years to decades of HPV persistence in the majority of women which explains why young women rarely have cervical cancer and why in a women's 40's her risk increases. Although cytology is used to detect early invasive cancers, it is now used predominantly to detect precancers, which can be easily treated with several modes of therapy. Of note, there has been virtually no change in cancer rates over the last 10 years.<sup>1,10</sup> This is predominantly due to the limits of cytology. Unfortunately, screening cytology remains relatively insensitive missing approximate 40-50% of significant precancers found on biopsy. Most now refer to the diagnosis of cervical intraepithelial neoplasia (CIN) grade 3 as the only "true" significant precancer and the lower grade CIN 1 as completely benign. CIN 2 diagnosis remains more controversial and discussed later. However, the cytologic categories have used the Bethesda terminology, which uses only two grades: low (L) grade and high (H) grade squamous intra-epithelial lesions (SIL). Recently there has been consensus to use these same terms for histology where CIN 2 and 3 are considered HSIL and CIN 1 is LSIL.<sup>11</sup>

The insensitivity of the cytology to detect CIN 3 led to frequent screening (annually) and the referral of diagnosis that described insignificant disease. The latter occurred because LSIL and HSIL often co-exist. It is not unusual that only cells from LSILs are detected on the cytology smear in women who also have HSIL for reasons not clear but may be that the LSIL cells are shed more easily. Hence current practice guidelines recommend referral of adult women with LSIL as well as HSIL to colposcopy triage where directed biopsies are taken of tissue that appears abnormal. <sup>12,13</sup> To complicate matters, a more subtle cytologic diagnosis was created referred to as Atypical Squamous Cells of undetermined significance (ASCUS) which were considered not normal but not SIL. The problem remains that the majority of women with

ASCUS or LSIL on cytology have either no disease or LSIL on biopsy and the majority of women with the true HSIL have ASCUS or LSIL on cytology and not HSIL. In a recent metaanalysis<sup>14</sup>, the sensitivity and specificity of detecting CIN 2 or worse was 57 and 97%, respectively if HSIL was used as a cut off-using LSIL, it was 76% and 81%, respectively. The natural history of LSIL shows that over 90% of women with this lesion will have spontaneous regression, hence, treatment of these lesions would be uncalled for in most. <sup>15,16</sup> HSIL. on the other hand, is considered a true precancer with progression rates to cancer ranging from 5 to 30%.<sup>17</sup> On the other hand, regression rates of HSIL have been reported as high as 70%, specifically in young women.<sup>18,19</sup> The progression potential of HSIL remains somewhat elusive since HSIL is a mixture of CIN 2 and 3 lesions.<sup>20</sup> Many believe that CIN 2 does not exist and is simply a misdiagnosis of either a lesion that is truly a CIN 1 or a CIN 3.<sup>21</sup> Numerous studies have shown that cytologic and histologic diagnosis are relatively subjective and have poor reproducibility rates between pathologists for all grades of CIN.<sup>22</sup> Very recently, p16 staining, a marker of cell dysregulation induced by HPV, is being used to adjudicate CIN 2 lesions.<sup>20,23,24</sup> It is now recommended that lesions diagnosed as CIN 2 by a pathologist be stained for p16 and if negative for p16 staining, the lesion should be downgraded to a CIN 1, or now referred to as LSIL and if positive, categorized as HSIL.<sup>11</sup>

Using ASCUS or LSIL as a cut off results in referring thousands of women who do not need colposcopy and biopsy whereas using HSIL as a cut off results in missing significant disease including cancer. Biopsy is also not without risk in that infection or bleeding, although rare, can occur. Treatments for abnormal biopsy results include ablative (i.e. cryotherapy (freezing), electric dissection, cold coagulation and laser ablation) and excisional (i.e. Loop electrosurgical excision therapy (LEEP), laser conization and cold-knife conization. None of these procedures are without risk. All can be associated with pain, bleeding and infection as well as psychological distress, anxiety and fear.<sup>25,26</sup> LEEP has become the modality of choice for most practitioners. Cryotherapy has lost appeal since treatment with cryotherapy of large lesions can result in recurrences and excisional therapies allow the margins of the lesions to be evaluated by a pathologist.<sup>27</sup> Although controversial, margins with evidence of disease are more commonly associated with recurrences. There have been a few meta-analysis and systematic reviews examining birth outcomes after CIN treatment. Crane et al <sup>28</sup> in systematic review found that women who had LEEP were more likely to have preterm birth (OR =1.81 95% Confidence Interval (CI) 1.18, 2.76) and low birth weight infants (<2500 g) (OR=1.60, 95% CI 1.01, 2.52; P = .04). No differences were found in C-section, labor induction or neonatal intensive care unit admission. The finding for preterm birth persisted even when controlling for smoking status. In a prospective study, Crane and colleagues<sup>29</sup> reported that LEEP and cold knife procedures were both associated with preterm birth. Two small meta-analysis found that excisional but not ablative treatment was associated with preterm birth <sup>30 31</sup>. A recent meta-analysis of excisional and ablative therapies by Bruinsma and Quinn<sup>32</sup> found that preterm birth was increased in women who received excisional therapy compared to both a population based (OR=1.97 95% 1.78-2.17) and hospital based (OR=2.71 95% CI 1.89-2.49) comparator. Ablative treatment was also associated with increased risk compared to population-based comparators (OR=1.53 95% CI 1.32-1.78) but not Hospital- based. This meta-analysis also compared treatment to women with CIN but no treatment. In this comparison, excisional (OR=1.25 95% CI .98-1.58) had a smaller affect and ablative was not significant (OR = 1.0395% CI 0.9-1.18).

#### **Screening and Management Guidelines**

Between the 1940s and 2002, women in the U.S. were advised to have cytology screening for cervical cancer performed annually at the time of their well woman visit. Although initially this results in a rapid decline in cervical cancers, little to no change has occurred in most population over the past decade. As reviewed above, studies now show that overscreening may result in overtreatment with excisional therapy which has negative consequences such as premature delivery. Over the past decade, national guidelines have changed substantially to avoid negative outcomes, such that routine screening is started later in life, completed earlier, and performed at greater intervals. In addition, it is advised to observe and follow cytologic and histologic abnormalities in young women rather than perform invasive procedures.

Recently there were several updates to both cervical cancer screening guidelines and management of abnormal cytology and histology. The American Cancer Society (ACS), American Society for Colposcopy and Cervical Pathology and American Society for Clinical Pathology sponsored a systematic evidence review of the ACS guidelines regarding screening for early detection of cervical precancerous lesions and cancer. <sup>33</sup> In parallel, the US Preventive Task Force also reviewed and updated their guidelines. <sup>34</sup> Based on evidence that HPV is extremely common in young women and cancer is extremely rare under the age of 21, it is now recommended that cervical cancer screening not begin until the age of 21 years. It was emphasized that overscreening and overtreatment is this group represents a net harm over underscreening. For women aged 21-29 years, it is recommend that women are screened with cytology along every 3 years and that HPV testing not be used to screen women in this age group, either as a stand-alone or HPV co-test. These guidelines were derived mostly from modeling studies. It was noted that annual screening resulted in twice the number of colposcopies compared with screening every 3 years. <sup>35</sup>

In addition, the 2006 consensus guidelines for management of abnormal cytology and histology <sup>12,13</sup> were updated. <sup>36</sup> For women under 26 years of age with abnormal cytology and histology, observation with cytology and colposcopy is recommended over invasive treatments such as LEEP and cryotherapy. More specifically, for young women with ASCUS and LSIL, it is recommended to repeat cytology annually and refer to colposcopy only if persistent at 2 years or if HSIL develops. Recommendations continue from the 2006 guidelines that young women with HSIL (CIN 2,3), defined as those interested in fertility, be followed by colposcopy and cytology rather than immediately referred for therapy<sup>36</sup>.

Adherence to these screening and management guidelines has been disappointingly low <sup>37</sup>, although the adherence to other national guidelines in general is low. <sup>38-40</sup> Dissemination and implementation of these guidelines can be a challenge in the US--many women equate health care with annual Pap smears and continue to demand these examinations. In addition, many physicians may have financial incentives to over screen and treat or are not aware of current guidelines.

This research will be expected to influence adherence to guidelines and lead to improved patient health and well-being as this study would show interventions that are capable of lowering the number of unnecessary colposcopic examinations, cervical biopsies and excisional therapies. All of these procedures have been shown to have negative effects including psychological distress

and premature delivery. Numerous providers and stakeholders have underscored the need to avoid these unnecessary procedures. <sup>33,36,41,42</sup>

There has been little done regarding physician based interventions regarding cervical cancer screening. In general, message based interventions (i.e., messages on laboratory reports), payment denials, and electronic medical record messages have all been examined with mixed results. <sup>43</sup> Newer technologies have not been evaluated extensively in any setting. These include offering free applications (APPs) for mobile phones, which would give easy access to guidelines. In addition, no mobile application intervention for patient decision-making has been applied for cervical cancer screening.

The aims of this study will specifically examine different strategies to increase physician and patient adherence to guidelines with the ultimate aim of obtaining better health and well-being for the woman. To date, no data is available on patient-centered interventions to assist the patient in understanding the guidelines and making informed decision on treatment options. It is important to have a team of experienced researchers, educators, and community stakeholders along with patient input to develop patient centered models. In addition, although mobile applications are becoming more common, there are no studies that have evaluated their success in increasing provider adherence to guidelines.

We also have the unique opportunity to work with the California Office of Family Planning: Family PACT program which serves underinsured women to obtain several preventive care services including cervical cancer screening. This innovative study will take advantage of the Family PACT claims database, which would give us the opportunity to examine reimbursement requests before and after intervention to assess the efficacy of the interventions. This type of outcome data avoids several biases associated with measuring efficacy of interventions.

The results from this research would influence current practice, which would lead to the decrease in unnecessary cervical procedures, and in turn would result in less premature birth and decreased distress caused by these procedures. Our relationship with all of our stakeholders would result in rapid dissemination of the results within Latina communities with the assistance of Latina Contra Cancer, national communities of patients with the assistance of National Cervical Cancer Coalition and our organizational stakeholders, American Society for Colposcopy and Cervical Pathology and American Congress of Obstetrics and Gynecology which both have large member associations and numerous opportunities through their organizations for dissemination.

## **Impact on Health Care Performance**

The development of guidelines are centered toward reviewing the most recent literature so that evidence-based decisions can guide development of guidelines that are based on our best understanding of benefit and harm with each strategy and outcome. Several standards have now been assigned to the review of the literature including a systematic review and weighing of the evidence. <sup>44</sup> The most recent evidence suggested that overscreening women results in more harm than benefit and over treatment is not only costly but has negative effects including psychological distress and premature birth (reviewed above). Modeling studies all showed that these new guidelines are likely to be quite cost-efficient. <sup>35,45-48</sup> Data analysis that was performed for the USPTF decision for screening young women every 3 years showed that there were less

colposcopies and less cervical cancer cases for screening every 3 years with cytology and HPV contesting starting at 30 than screening every 3 years with cytology alone for all ages.<sup>35</sup> The age at which HPV testing begins to play an important role is 30 years of age when most HPV infections when detected reflect already persistent infections. Until then, most infections are thought to be more recently acquired or have not had adequate change to spontaneously regress. Therefore, cytology alone is best used under 30 years of age. These data support that nonadherence to the guidelines is likely to result in inefficient patient care. As discussed above <sup>33</sup>. there is good evidence that many providers do not adhere to the new guidelines including age of first cytology, screening intervals and overtreatment specifically in young women. 41,49-52 Therefore, interventions to decrease overscreening and overtreatment according to the current guidelines will increase the efficiency of patient care and we believe it will also improve the overall quality and experience of their care. We also believe that the patient centered approach will be most efficient since it offers an opportunity for teaching which would then in turn decrease time required of the physician. Patient-centered approach is to educate the patient so that she is armed with critical information to understand the guidelines, ask more focused questions of the provider and ultimately to assist the patient in making informed decisions. The guidelines themselves are very complicated and it is not expected that the patient should be able to maneuver through the guidelines, however, simple messages can be understood by patients who then can assist them to feel comfortable with the new guidelines, and in the case of treatment options, make a decision that they are also more comfortable with making. However, it is likely that a successful intervention will be required for both patients and providers as discussed above.

We believe this project would increase the efficiency of patient care with less unnecessary cytology specimens, less unnecessary referral to colposcopy and biopsy and most important less invasive treatment for CIN in young women that in turn would result in less premature births.

## **Relevance to Patients**

Although referral to colposcopy may seem benign, studies have shown that many women are negatively affected by a diagnosis of an abnormal Pap test or HPV tests including feelings of shame, anxiety, fear, and emotional distress. <sup>25,53-55</sup> Relationships are often negatively affected as well when trying to explain the sexually transmitted nature of HPV. Referral to colposcopy also affects work and school activities. Colposcopy and biopsy itself is associated with psychological distress, anxiety and fear. <sup>53,56-58</sup> Most women find biopsy uncomfortable and excisional therapies often quite painful. On the other hand, the fear of developing cervical cancer is overwhelming to many women and these women are comforted by having annual examinations that include cervical cancer screening. Cervical cancer screening is always a balance between harm and benefit and this balance is age related. Some younger women may think that since they have received the HPV vaccine that no screening is required. However, since the vaccine only covers 2 of the 15 high-risk types, screening in this population also remains essential and this message must be convened.

This proposed research is focused on developing tools that will decrease anxiety and fears about HPV, undo myths and enhance women's participation in obtaining regular health care including appropriate cervical cancer intervals.

## **STUDY DESIGN**

#### Overview

This is a clustered randomized trial with individual clinics serving as the clusters. Clinics from the California Family PACT provider network who serve at least 200 female clients per year <30 years of age will be randomized to one of 2 intervention arms: 1) physician based approach (APP), and 2) APP-based intervention plus patient-centered approach (PCA). We will reach out to eligible sites to identify which sites are willing to participate. Of these, we will randomize 14 clinics to one of the two intervention arms. These groups will be compared to a comparison group (those not randomized). Since Family PACT data is available for all sites, randomization is not necessary for the comparative groups. However, attention to size, cultural make-up and public versus private information will be accounted for in identifying 7 sites for comparison. Seven sites in each arm/group will result in an average of 2800-3500 women per arm/group—total of 8400-10500 women.

#### **Study Population**

In FY 2012-13, 2,297 Family PACT clinician providers served over 1.5 million female Family PACT clients. A detailed description of the Family PACT services can be found in the Family PACT Program report for FY 2012-13. Women eligible for these services are uninsured women, under 200% of the federal poverty level, at risk of pregnancy. Sixty-three percent of Family PACT female clients are less than 30 years of age and about 50% are within our target age group: 21-29 years. Sixty-three percent define themselves as Latina and 38% report that Spanish is their primary language. Twenty percent identified as white and 6% as black. Eighty percent were below the Federal Poverty Guidelines. Retention at clinics is quite high. Defining retention as having used Family PACT at least once in four years prior to their visit in FY 2012-13, 74% were retained in care. The program serves a disproportionately high number of Latinas. Fifty-three percent of the entire Family PACT population is Latina, whereas 19% of the entire California population is Latina.

Our goal is to identify 14 provider sites that each serve at least 200 female clients aged 21-29 years that are willing to participate in study and be randomly assigned to one of the two research arms. We will also identify sites with similar inclusion criteria who but are not participating and of these, 7 sites will be randomly selected for comparison so that this comparison arm would result in a similar number of women aged 21-29 years. We will use variables from the following Family PACT administrative databases to determine the sampling universe: Provider enrollment, client enrollment, and claims databases. We excluded Family PACT providers who are Planned Parenthood (PP) affiliates from our sampling universe because they have a unique monitoring and tracking system of cervical cytology testing that assures adherence to guidelines hence, they would not be representative of other primary care settings. We will also exclude those that already have on average long intervals (>30 months) since they likely already adhere to guidelines. To maintain efficiency, we will focus on Southern California sites that serve the greatest number of women. These include Los Angeles, Orange, San Diego, Riverside, Santa Barbara, San Bernardino, Imperial, Kern, Ventura, and Fresno counties. Within these counties, there are 1,114 private sector clinics, 456 public sector clinics serving a total of 1,280,846 clients. The average age of these women is 27.4. Sixty-nine percent identify as Latina, 15% as white, 6% as black, and 7% as Asian/Pacific Islander. Forty-six percent state that Spanish is

there primary language. Sites that send their cytology to Quest laboratories will also be identified to allow for consistent cytology collection medium and processing.

## **Selection of Participants**

### Inclusion Criteria

### Intervention arms:

We will identify Family PACT providers who meet the following inclusion criteria:

- Is located in one of the ten Southern California study counties
- Clinical care visits occurred to at least 200 women aged 21-29 years in FY 11/12
- Has a calculated average cytology interval of < 30 months (based on last 3 years)
- Cytology is sent to Quest laboratories

For comparison, we will select from the following:

- Is located in one of the ten Southern California study counties
- Clinical care visit occurred to at least 200 women aged 21-29 years in FY 11/12
- Has a calculated average cytology interval of < 30 months (based on last 3 years)
- Cytology is sent to Quest laboratories

## STUDY METHODOLOGY

#### **Study Intervention**

#### Choice of Comparators

We will compare 2 different interventions arms that are designed to prevent overscreening and over treatment by increasing adherence to the new US cervical cancer screening guidelines <sup>33</sup> and the ASCCP guidelines for the management of abnormal cervical cancer screening tests and cancer precursors.<sup>36</sup> Specifically, the interventions will focus on lengthening cervical cancer screening intervals to every 3 years, decreasing colposcopy procedures for minimally abnormal cytology results and decreasing treatment of cervical precancerous lesions with a high rate of regression (i.e., cervical intraepithelial neoplasia grades 2 and 2/3).

The two arms will be:

1) Mobile application (APP)-based intervention for providers,

2) Mobile application (APP)-based intervention for providers PLUS patient-centered approach intervention (PCA).

The two arms will be compared to a comparison group (no intervention).

The APP-based intervention (APP) is for clinicians' mobile phones and will maneuver them through current guidelines (cervical cancer screening and management of abnormal cytology and histology) based on patient age and condition. This is the current ASCCP tool, which will be updated to include screening guidelines and risk assessment so the provider can better understand the risk associated with follow-up versus premature triage to colposcopy.

The patient-centered approach intervention (PCA) is oriented towards educating women about HPV and cervical cancer screening. The intervention will be provided to patients' when they check-in for a clinic appointment, and will interactively provide information designed to help them understand current guidelines for the frequency of cervical cancer screening and appropriate management for abnormal cytology and treatment options. It will allow them to assess the risks and benefits of screening intervals and of treatment choices.

Comparison sites will have no intervention.

This approach will allow us to examine what the additional benefit of educating women and providers would be over educating providers only. Our design also underscores downloading of mobile applications are passive and does not equate with knowledge of or use of the mobile application. Within the intervention arms, providers will be systematically educated on all the functions and capabilities of the mobile application and to ensure that the application is used consistently.

The comparison group is likely to include providers who have already downloaded and use the application. But this group would not have been systematically educated as to how to use the application, hence allowing us to examine the role of education around the integration of the mobile application into counseling.

## Development of the PCA Intervention

Four focus groups will be held both English and Spanish speaking, separately. With the assistance of NCCC and LCC, our patient stakeholders women aged 21-29 years of age will be identified for each focus group (See **Appendices A & B** for Focus Group Scripts). The focus groups will review the guidelines and their rationale and ask women what messages would be most appropriate and acceptable to the target population. Women with cancer, CIN and no abnormal cervical cytology will be targeted for inclusion whenever possible. Women who have never been screened for cervical cancer also will also be sought to participate. Issues that will be addressed include fears, concerns, and areas of uncertainty she may have around screening, and potential messages that could be used to address these issues. Thematic areas will focus on: cervical cancer screening intervals in young women under 30 years; natural history of HPV, follow-up of ASCUS and LSIL cytology by cytology only in women aged 21-24 years vs. immediate referral to colposcopy, follow-up of biopsy proven LSIL by cytology without treatment, follow-up of biopsy proven HSIL by colposcopy and cytology vs. immediate treatment, treatment options (cryotherapy vs. excisional therapy).

Transcriptions of the oral discussions of the focus groups will be taken and distributed to the group. Based on the transcriptions, we will develop a paper tool.

## Themes within in the intervention include:

- Defining what is a Pap smear
- Defining what is a cervix
- The relationship between HPV infections and Pap smear
- The natural history of HPV (clearance versus persistence) and its relationship to cervical cancer
- Perceived Importance of Pap smears
- The risk benefit ratio of overscreening
- The risk benefit ratio of overtreatment
- Understanding cervical cancer screening interval recommendation
- Understanding HPV testing recommendations
- Understanding how the new guidelines were established
- Understanding the new guidelines for abnormal cytology

Once the research and stakeholder team review the paper tool and agree to its flow and content, 5-10 women, with a history of normal cytology, no history of screening and abnormal cytology will be solicited through the stakeholders (NCC and LCC) as well as flyers (See **Appendices C & D**) at clinics and bus stops to participate in a cognitive interview (See **Appendices E & F**). Women will be walked through the paper tool and address clarity, cultural sensitivity, and appropriateness of messaging. All interviews will be recorded and transcribed. Both English and Spanish speaking women will be identified. Changes will be incorporated after each feedback (if time permits) and incorporated before the next interview. (See **Appendices G to J** for Final Paper tools)

## Technology Design

**Media:** A URL based app will be developed and tested. After each testing, notes will be taken by the SC and then reviewed by the team for clarity, flow, interest, and ease of use. NCCC and LCC will be asked to review and give feedback. Ten women will then be asked individually to review the URL and give feedback in a one to one setting. The URL website allows us to easily make changes over time as input is given.

**Userface design:** The media will be a combination of pictures, words, short videos and interactive buttons in order to engage and hold the attention of the woman.

The application will developed using a responsive design approach—a website optimized for viewing on a tablet or phone allowing the app to be used on both iOS and Android devices as well as easily distributed later. The responsive design approach will allow the incorporation of videos and animation using HTML 5. During the study, the app will be distributed to clinics through a URL: <a href="http://medschool2.ucsf.edu/preview/dots/site/">http://medschool2.ucsf.edu/preview/dots/site/</a>.

The application will be both unit and functionally tested to work in the targeted tablet devices and browsers identified by the study team. In addition, the study team will work with the identified clinics to ensure wireless coverage.

The tablet will not be set up to collect any data on individuals.

## Final Product Development

The final URL will be reviewed and edited by the team (research and stakeholders NCC and LCC) until the group agrees on all content, flow and messaging feedback. The application will allow women to choose English or Spanish language. Then they woman will be able to choose whether she is there because she had an abnormal Pap smear or not.

Content for cervical cancer screening (no current history of abnormal cytology)

Introduction to Pap smears Description of normal anatomy including cervix, uterus, fallopian tubes How a Pap smear is obtained What Pap smears look for (abnormal cells) What is the connection between HPV (what is HPV) and Pap smear How common is HPV Risk of cervical cancer Importance of Pap smear When women should first get screened How often women should get screened Risks and Benefits to increased intervals Screening for women with HIV and other immunosuppressive disorder How women can protect themselves; through HPV vaccination, condom us, stop cigarette smoking and getting tested regularly for STIs Questions women might want to use to ask their provider

#### Self-assessment Quiz (See Appendices K & L)

#### Content for history of current abnormal cytology

Introduction to Pap smears Description of normal anatomy including cervix, uterus, fallopian tubes How a Pap smear is obtained What Pap smears look for (abnormal cells) What is the connection between HPV (what is HPV) and Pap smear How common is HPV Risk of cervical cancer What is an abnormal Pap test Relationship between abnormal Pap test and cervical cancer What happens next if I have an abnormal Pap test Description of colposcopy Description of a biopsy What happens after colposcopy What type of procedures are available for treatment Questions around partner treatment and transmission How women can protect themselves; through HPV vaccination, condom us, stop cigarette smoking and getting tested regularly for STIs Ouestions women might want to use to ask their provider Self-assessment Quiz (See Appendices K & L)

#### Final Pilot Testing

We will ask an additional 5-10 women recruited by NCCC, LCC and local women to participate in individual interviews to pilot test the program in a simulated clinical environment. Women who have had LSIL, HSIL, colposcopy with biopsy, and never screened will be solicited. The only introduction that will be given will be that similar to what will be given at the clinic sites. They will be asked to complete this education/self-assessment tool about cervical cancer screening and treatment options in accordance with their clinical history. These visits will be conducted by members of the research team and feedback sessions will be audio recorded. Immediately after using the intervention, the woman will complete a semi-structured interview that reviews her general reactions to the tool and her feedback and suggestions for specific components. Attention will be paid to the appropriateness of the information provided, both with respect to content and format, and the degree to which the tool addressed the common concerns women may have in each area. We will also explore whether the layout and navigation of the tool are accessible and clear. Specifically, we will ask whether she feels the tool helped in hearing the information and making decisions for cervical cancer screening intervals as well as treatment or follow-up. The study team will also debrief on the perceived influence of the tool on the potential clinical interaction with their provider. This information will be brought back again to the team and any modifications will be made to the intervention. Following completion of 4-5 interviews, the study team will meet and discuss changes to the tool based on the feedback and implement these changes. This process will be then be repeated in an iterative manner with 5 additional women if needed.

Final product will be an interactive, computerized, educational tool for cervical cancer screening and management of abnormal cytology and histology which will be informed by patients' preferences and experiences of cervical cancer screening, colposcopy, biopsy and treatment as well as by the medical expertise of guideline experts. This tool will be designed to facilitate the counseling interaction by providing the patient with information about her options and assisting her in identifying her preferences and areas of uncertainty and is intended to assist the patient in determining important areas for discussion during the visit.

The final product will be approved by NCC, ASCCP, LCC and all investigators. ACOG (Committee on Adolescent and young adult) will be asked to review for their input.

#### Development of the Mobile Application Based Intervention for Providers

Currently, the ASCCP has designed a mobile application for the management of abnormal cytology and histology guidelines based on the 2006 management of abnormal cytology and histology guidelines and the recently released updated guidelines: 2012 Updated Consensus Guidelines for the management of abnormal cervical cancer screening tests and cancer Precursors. <sup>12,13,36</sup> The mobile app can be purchased for both iPhones through the Apple store and Androids through Google Play. Both the iPhone and Android version of the App will be updated with PCORI support to help providers assess risk as well as provide guidelines for screening. Risk assessments will help providers understand the need to refer to colposcopy versus to watch observantly and to treat versus watch observantly. This effort will also involve National Cancer Institute. For example, young women with LSIL on cytology is a low risk for CIN 2/3, hence the management recommended is repeat cytology in one year not colposcopy. The risk associated with the development of CIN 2/3 is given under these circumstances. The American Cancer Society screening guidelines will also be added. For this application, there is no data exchange nor data collection – it will simply be a decision tool for the doctor.

#### **Study Implementation Procedures**

#### Study Enrollment Procedures

#### Contacting sites:

A letter will be sent to all clinic administrators of eligible sites explaining the study. A follow-up phone call will occur one week later. We will explain the study over the phone and those interested and agree to participate will be identified as clinics eligible to randomize to an intervention arm. If more than 14 sites agree to participate, we will let the sites know that they may not be asked to participate. If more than 14 sites agree, the 14 sites will be chosen based on identifying a balance of private and public clinics so that the average number of women aged 21-29 years is 500, and a relative geographic distribution among the 10 counties and that both English and Spanish languages are well represented according to the county's proportion of Hispanics.

Of those eligible for the comparison sites, we will identify sites using the eligibility criteria, and randomly identify 7 sites but with matching for private and public clinics and relative size of

practice which may range from 200 to over 1000 clients. There will be no contact with these sites since the outcomes data will be monitored from the Family PACT claims database.

### Randomization:

Block randomization of clinics to one of the two arms will be performed by the biostatistical group at UCLA.

## Site set up:

Dr. Moscicki and the PC will visit all 14 identified clinics sites to meet with staff, identify a key contact person for the site, discuss flow issues, and discuss the protocol.

## For clinics randomized to APP-based intervention alone (arm 1):

We will ask each of the providers to download the ASCCP application prior to the in-service or at the beginning of the in-service. We will meet with each of providers in the practice in person for a 30-minute session to introduce them to and provide basic guidance to the ASCCP mobile application. This will include showing them the screening guidelines on the application, and using several scenarios as examples to practice its use. These will all focus on women under 30 years of age. If any new providers are hired during the period, the PC will come out to provide them with orientation to the web based application. It is expected that some of the providers will already have the APP. We will ask them to participate in the in-service as well.

### For clinics randomized to APP with PCA-based intervention (arm 2):

In addition to the training described above for the providers, we will work with clinic staff randomized to this arm to optimize implementation of the patient-directed application. First, staff will be introduced to the goals of the application, and will be taken through it in an interactive manner, allowing for questions and answers. The PC will train staff in using the website, how to connect to and open the URL, and begin the application. The intervention is expected to be easy to use but in case the clients have questions, the staff will be trained.

For implementation, we will work interactively with the clinic staff to make sure the tablet is provided as part of normal clinic flow. This may involve the front desk or nursing visit during vital signs depending on the clinic. The SC will work closely with the site to make sure all age appropriate (21-29 years) are given a tablet at the time of their visit. Instruction will be given how to interact with the patients regarding assessing their interest and giving them the website information for their own devices or use of the tablet we provide the clinics. The tablet will be either held with the staff (encased in a large case in order to deter theft) or will be locked to a specific site in the waiting room, depending on the configuration of the clinic. For those sites with no Wi-Fi connectivity, we will purchase a monthly Wi-Fi subscription for the tablet.

#### Adherence:

Although we will not have site-specific data, we will be able to see how many times the PCA has been viewed.

#### Comparison Arm:

No site set up will be performed with comparison groups.

### Quality Assurance

The PC will identify a point of contact for each intervention site with whom to maintain monthly contact via email/telephone, depending on the type of interaction the site staff requests to ensure that the tablet is functional and remind them to use it in clinic flow. We will ask approximately how many times a week the tablet is being used, how many women refused (in the 21-29 year old), how many women were not offered the tablet. We initially will make weekly calls/emails. After the first month, we will make monthly contact.

The PC will visit all participating intervention arm clinics 2-3 times a year. At that time the PC will ensure that the interventions are in place -- tablets are being functional and are being offered to all age-appropriate women attending the clinic, and all provider phones have a functional mobile application. In addition, to collecting satisfaction surveys, the PC will also collect data on any potential factors that may bias or contaminate an arm (i.e., webinars attended by staff on cervical cancer screening, mobile apps present on the other intervention arms, among others.) using the Quality Assurance Survey (See **Appendix M**). This will be collected at the end of the first and second years. Sites will be reimbursed \$1,000 each a year for their participation in the Quality Assurance Project.

## Satisfaction Survey

The PC will attend all the clinics 2-3 times a year. At this time, women attending the clinic and complete the tablet intervention will be asked, after consenting, to complete a satisfaction survey (See **Appendix N**) at the end of the visit that will ask the patients, age, cytology diagnosis, and whether the tool was useful, easy to use and did they feel it gave them adequate information regarding cervical cancer screening guidelines and treatment options. Forty women from each of the sites (200 for each arm) will be solicited years 2 and 3.

#### Progress Review

All stakeholders will convene twice a year (month 7 and 12) and review the progress, issues, problems and feedback from the clinic sites, satisfaction survey and interim and final outcomes data. When necessary, changes to the protocol or interventions will occur if deemed appropriate by the group.

#### **Sample Size Estimates and Power Calculations**

The database for FY 2010/11 shows that 386 clinics fit the criteria with 89 sites available for arms 1-2 and 297 available for the comparison group. The mean number of female clients aged 21-29 years seen at the eligible clinics was 560 and the mean number of cytology specimens, colposcopic examinations and LEEP/cryoprocedures for this age group was 297, 40, and 4, respectively. In 2012, the mean cytology interval was 19 months. Very few clinics had an interval >30 months. There were no differences for any of the above variables between those

sites eligible for intervention and those for comparison. These numbers have not changed significantly in the past 2 years and will be updated for the baseline assessment.

After enrolling 7 sites into each arm, we estimate that we would have approximately 2800-3500 women aged 21-29 years in each arm. For each arm, baseline cytology rate in this age group would be approximately 50%, rate of colposcopy procedures for those who had cytology would be 13%, and rate of LEEP/cryotherapy procedures for those referred to colposcopy would be 10%.

Sample size calculations for the primary endpoint (rate of cytology testing) are based on a pairwise comparison of observed changes from baseline in clinic-specific three-month testing rates between intervention study arms (APP or APP+PCA) and the control arm, using a t-test adjusted for clustering on the clinic level. The baseline rate in control clinics is assumed to be approximately 50%, consistent with the preliminary data presented above. Assuming that there will be no observed change in rates for control clinics during the testing period, our expected sample size of 9030 (i.e. 3010 per arm, seven clinics per arm, and an average of 430 women per clinic) will be sufficient to provide 90% power to detect a between-arm difference as small as 16% as significant. This calculation assumes a quite conservative value for the intracluster correlation of outcomes within clinics of 0.07, and is based on a 1% significance level to account for the fact that there will be two pairwise comparisons with the control arm (i.e. one per intervention arm). Accounting for as much as 10% missing data on testing rates, we will still retain more than 90% power to detect differences of this magnitude or larger between arms as significant at the 5% level. We should also retain adequate power to conduct additional sensitivity analyses investigating the possible confounding influence of clinic-level descriptors (e.g. race/ethnicity and age distribution) on observed results. Finally, we note that our proposed analysis that will account for within-clinic paired observation of outcome rates and adjust for baseline covariates will likely yield more power than the conservative estimates made above. Although the study is not powered to detect significant differences between intervention groups, a similar calculation for the comparison between the APP and APP+PCA groups indicates that we retain at least 70% power to detect a difference in observed changes in testing rates as small as 15% as significant at the 5% level.

Parallel calculations for the secondary colposcopy outcome also are based on between-arm comparison of changes in three-month colposcopy rates from baseline levels, and assume that approximately 50% of women will receive cytology at baseline and follow-up in the control group, and that colposcopy rates will also remain unchanged at 13%. We also assume that the intervention-related reduction in cytology will result in approximately 20% fewer women eligible for colposcopy at follow-up. Based on similar assumptions about intracluster correlation and loss to follow-up, results indicate that with the planned total sample size of 9030, we will retain at least 80% power to detect an intervention-related reduction in colposcopy rate as small as 8% at the 5% (one-sided) significance level. Due to our conservative assumptions, we should have sufficient power to detect even smaller intervention-related effects in analyses adjusting for baseline characteristics.

We did not perform calculations for the testing interval length and LEEP outcomes because of the lack of preliminary data on their potential variability within and between clinics.

## **ANALYTIC METHODS**

#### **Research Question**

Does provision of patient and provider educational materials increase adherence to cervical cancer screening guidelines (increase in screening interval and decrease in diagnostic and excisional procedures) in women under age 30?

#### **Choice of Outcomes**

Family PACT claims data will be used to examine by age, the number of and average interval between

cytology specimens, and the number of cervical procedures. However, we hypothesize that the group with both interventions (physician plus patient interventions) will be more successful in guideline adherence than physician interventions alone or the comparison group (no intervention).

#### **Missing Data**

Missing data may arise at several points in the study. Clinicians have six months to submit a claim for reimbursement after the last date of service. The claims data are 90% complete at the last date of service and 99% after six months of the last date of service. We will feel confident that we can conduct the statistical analysis in years 1 (pre-intervention) and 3 (post-intervention) with a 90% complete dataset but will rerun the models in year 2 (interim data analysis) to confirm the results with the 99% complete dataset for pre-intervention and will rerun the end of study results at 6 months post end of study. Patient information may be missing on the examination or intake form or from the patient satisfaction survey or patients may drop out or be lost to follow-up in the study. The randomness of this information will be examined to ensure that its missing-ness is not related to any patient, clinic, or intervention arm factors. In addition to this, lab results may be contaminated or lost entirely. The pattern of unusable lab results will be analyzed to identify any clinic or intervention arm bias. Reasons for missing data will be collected and tabulated.

#### **Data Analyses**

Outcomes to be evaluated within and between intervention arms are based on the specific research aims:

- a) Decrease the rate of cervical cytology testing among women ages 21-29 years of age
   Pre: Rate of women 21-29 years of age who received cervical cytology tests over total number of women 21-29 years of age in quarter (3 months) before start of intervention
   Post: Rate of women 21-29 years of age who received cervical cytology tests over total number of women 21-29 years of age in months 3-6, 9-12, and 15-18 after intervention started
- b) To increase average length of cervical cytology testing among women under 30 years of age
   Pre: cervical cytology test interval among women who received two CC tests from same provider (analysis limited to providers who have been in program at least 36 months)

**Post:** cervical cytology test interval among women who received their second CC test 3-15 months after the intervention started.

c) To decrease the number of LEEP and cryotherapy procedures in women under 30 years of age with

abnormal cytology.

**Pre:** Rate of women 21-29 years of age who receive LEEP or cryotherapy over total number of women 21-29 years of age in quarter before intervention started. **Post:** Rate of women 21-29 years of age who receive colposcopy or LEEP or cryotherapy over total number of women 21-29 years of age in 3-6, 9-12, and 15-18 months after intervention started.

**d)** To decrease the number of colposcopy procedures in women 21-24 years of age with abnormal

cytology.

**Pre:** Rate of women 21-24 years of age who receive colposcopy over total number of women 21-24 years in quarter before intervention started.

**Post:** Rate of women 21-24 years who receive colposcopy over total number of women 21-24 years of age in 3-6, 9-12, and 15-18 months after intervention started.

The primary outcome measure will compare the observed within-clinic changes in cervical cytology testing rates between intervention and comparison groups using a t-test accounting for clinic-level clustering. We will use the same approach to test differences between each of the APP and APP + PCA and the comparison groups. Tests will be adjusted for multiple comparisons. Secondary endpoints include examining the interval between tests for women who received two cervical cytology tests from the same provider and the decrease in the number (and percent) of women receiving colposcopy procedures and LEEP or cryotherapy procedures. These will be analyzed using a similar approach as adopted for the primary endpoint. Patient satisfaction surveys will be administered to all women evaluated and compared between interventions and the controls. Because most available data is on the clinic level, we will have limited opportunities to analyze patient-level data. However we will be able to conduct supplementary analyses to investigate the possible impacts of between-arm imbalances in clinic level characteristics such as racial/ethnic composition, age distribution, descriptors of lab procedures, additional app or educational materials that are not part of the assigned intervention, and cervical cancer screening educational activities. Prior to starting the intervention and during the study, administrators and physicians at each clinic site will be asked about possible confounding variables at their clinic.

## Sensitivity and Heterogeneity of Treatment Effect:

Each intervention group and the control group will be examined for its sensitivity and heterogeneity by using a jack-knife technique computing the intervention effect leaving out each of the clinics consecutively. The variability of the results of these analyses within intervention will be compared to the overall effect to examine how sensitive the results are to each clinic. Within each clinic, patients with some missing data will be included and then excluded from the summary analyses of that clinic and intervention to examine sensitivity of the patient results to the overall clinic and intervention effects. These analyses will be tabulated and reported by clinic, by intervention, and overall.

#### **PROTECTION OF HUMAN SUBJECTS**

Human subjects protection will be of utmost priority throughout the research study. Study personnel will strictly adhere to policies and regulations as defined and outlined by the Institutional Review Board (IRB) for Protection of Human Subjects of the University of California, San Francisco (UCSF) (Award Number: A122561) and the University of California, Los Angeles (UCLA) (IRB Application still under review as of 4/29/15).

#### Potential Risks

Focus groups, interviews and mock pilot testing: Potential risks are low in all three formats. Inadvertent disclosure of patient's condition such as having cervical cancer may cause embarrassment or psychological distress in the focus groups. For the focus groups and interviews, discussion about procedures that previously caused distress may invoke stress. Since these women are volunteers and it will be explained to them ahead of time, it is likely that these risks are extremely low. Women who will try the mock intervention are not likely to have any risks unless as above, it induces stress given a past situation.

*Randomized Intervention Trial:* Risks for participation are low. It is possible that completing the tablet intervention will induce anxiety, however, input from the community stakeholders and patients during the development of the app should keep this to an extremely rare event, if ever. Women do not have to complete the tablet intervention and they can stop it any time. The tablet will be voluntary at the clinic sites. No PHI will be collected from the tablets on the women for this study nor shared with investigators. Data from the tablets is not stored anywhere including the risk assessment. It will be deleted immediately after clients complete the survey.

*Patient Satisfaction Survey:* Risks for participation are low to none. Patients will be asked about age and condition but no personal identifiers will be collected. Information about ease of tablet use will be asked as well as whether the tablet was informative and helpful.

*Protections Against Risk:* For focus groups, women will be asked prior to consenting if they are comfortable talking about their condition (cervical cancer, dysplasia). If they are not, then they will be asked not to disclose any time during the focus groups. All tape-recorded data will be immediately brought back in a locked carrying case to UCSF where it will be stored in a locked cabinet until used for feedback. Some of the discussions may reveal certain sexual behaviors. We will instruct the focus groups that everything said at the focus group is considered confidential and we ask them not to repeat any information shared at the focus group. If anyone feels uncomfortable we will excuse them. In addition, we will make sure that they feel that they do not need to respond to ours or others questions. No individual information will be identified or recorded. Individual interviews will be asked similar questions and tape recording will be handled similarly. If at any time a women appears uncomfortable, we will stop the interview.

*Individual interview and mock intervention:* First, beta form for the intervention will be submitted to the UCSF CHR for final approval prior to testing the version. Upon approval, women who will be asked to perform the mock interventions will be instructed that if they feel at any time uncomfortable with the intervention, they can stop at any time. Also if they have any questions during the intervention, they can ask the study coordinator. Tape recordings will be handled similar as above.

The electronic data sets are protected with a password and stored on a secure network. The servers containing the data are kept in a locked office with limited access inside of a locked suite at the DHCS in Sacramento. All UCSF personnel working with the data have signed confidentiality agreements and completed HIPAA training courses.

## Benefits to Subjects

*Focus groups/interview/mock pilot testing:* no benefits will occur for participating in the study except that the subjects may gain important information regarding cervical cancer screening. Risks to the subjects are low. Inadvertent disclosure of HPV status or cervical cancer status may occur which could cause distress.

*Randomized trial clinics:* Risk to the women is very low since the tablets are informational. In addition, the final intervention will be submitted to the UCSF CHR and UCLA IRB for final approval before moving onto the randomized trial. Women will not be randomized only clinics. Women may benefit since they would have increased education and more satisfaction having knowledge about cervical cancer screening guidelines. Patient may benefit if screening guidelines are adhered to by the provider.

Patient Satisfaction survey: No benefit will occur the women for completing the survey.

## Benefits to Society:

The knowledge from the focus groups and interviews will serve the development of the patient intervention tool. This in turn may increase adherence to the US Cervical Cancer Screening (CCS) guidelines and management of abnormal cytology. This in turn would result in decrease invasive procedures for young women. The study may give us insight in to how to assist provider and patients to adhere to the US CCS guidelines. The risks for participation in the focus groups and interviews are low. Information from the trial may give us intervention tools that increase adherence to guidelines by both providers and patients.

Explain why the risks to subjects are reasonable:

Risks are very low and will hopefully benefit women at large from unnecessary intervention.

Compensation for Participation:

Participants for the one-hour focus groups, interview, and pilot testing will receive \$50. Participants of the Patient satisfaction Survey will receive a \$10 gift card. Participants and their insurance will not be charged for any study procedures.

(See Appendices O to T for consent forms for focus groups interviews, cognitive interviews, and satisfaction surveys)

## REFERENCES

- 1. Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Cancer Institute. *United States Cancer Statistics: 1999–2007 Incidence and Mortality Web-based Report.* Atlanta, GA: Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, and National Cancer Institute.;2010.
- 2. Winer RL, Lee SK, Hughes JP, Adam DE, Kiviat NB, Koutsky LA. Genital human papillomavirus infection: incidence and risk factors in a cohort of female university students. *Am J Epidemiol*. Feb 1 2003;157(3):218-226.
- 3. Moscicki AB, Hills N, Shiboski S, et al. Risks for incident human papillomavirus infection and low-grade squamous intraepithelial lesion development in young females. *JAMA*. 2001;285(23):2995-3002.
- 4. Widdice L, Ma Y, Jonte J, et al. Concordance and Transmission of Human Papillomavirus withinHeterosexual Couples Observed over Short Intervals. *The Journal of infectious diseases*. Jan 14 2013.
- 5. Burchell AN, Richardson H, Mahmud SM, et al. Modeling the sexual transmissibility of human papillomavirus infection using stochastic computer simulation and empirical data from a cohort study of young women in Montreal, Canada. *Am J Epidemiol*. Mar 15 2006;163(6):534-543.
- 6. Moscicki AB, Schiffman M, Burchell A, et al. Updating the natural history of human papillomavirus and anogenital cancers. *Vaccine*. Nov 20 2012;30 Suppl 5:F24-33.
- 7. Mount SL, Papillo JL. A Study of 10,296 Pediatric and Adolescent Papanicolaou Smear Diagnoses in Northern New England. *Pediatrics*. 1999;103(3):539-546.
- 8. Ho GY, Bierman R, Beardsley L, Chang CJ, Burk RD. Natural History of cervicovaginal papillomavirus infection in young women. *NEJM*. 1998;338(7):423-428.
- 9. Moscicki AB, Shiboski S, Broering J, et al. The natural history of human papillomavirus infection as measured by repeated DNA testing in adolescent and young women. *J Pediatr*. 1998;132:277-284.
- 10. Chan PG, Sung HY, Sawaya GF. Changes in cervical cancer incidence after three decades of screening US women less than 30 years old. *Obstet Gynecol.* 2003;102(4):765-773.
- 11. Darragh TM, Colgan TJ, Cox JT, et al. The Lower Anogenital Squamous Terminology Standardization Project for HPV-Associated Lesions: background and consensus recommendations from the College of American Pathologists and the American Society for Colposcopy and Cervical Pathology. *Arch Pathol Lab Med.* Oct 2012;136(10):1266-1297.
- 12. Wright TC, Jr., Massad LS, Dunton CJ, Spitzer M, Wilkinson EJ, Solomon D. 2006 consensus guidelines for the management of women with abnormal cervical cancer screening tests. *Am J Obstet Gynecol*. Oct 2007;197(4):346-355.
- 13. Wright TC, Jr., Massad LS, Dunton CJ, Spitzer M, Wilkinson EJ, Solomon D. 2006 consensus guidelines for the management of women with cervical intraepithelial neoplasia or adenocarcinoma in situ. *Am J Obstet Gynecol*. Oct 2007;197(4):340-345.
- 14. Arbyn M, Bergeron C, Klinkhamer P, Martin-Hirsch P, Siebers AG, Bulten J. Liquid compared with conventional cervical cytology: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Obstet Gynecol.* Jan 2008;111(1):167-177.

- 15. Cox JT, Schiffman M, Solomon D, ASCUS-LSIL Triage Study (ALTS) Group. Prospective follow-up suggests similar risk of subsequent cervical intraepithelial neoplasia grade 2 or 3 among women with cervical intraepithelial neoplasia grade 1 or negative colposcopy and directed biopsy. *Am J Obstet Gynecol.* 2003;188(6):1406-1412.
- 16. Moscicki AB, Shiboski S, Hills NK, et al. Regression of low-grade squamous intraepithelial lesions in young women. *Lancet.* 2004;364(9446):1678-1683.
- 17. McCredie MR, Sharples KJ, Paul C, et al. Natural history of cervical neoplasia and risk of invasive cancer in women with cervical intraepithelial neoplasia 3: a retrospective cohort study. *The lancet oncology*. May 2008;9(5):425-434.
- 18. Moscicki AB, Ma Y, Wibbelsman C, et al. Rate of and risks for regression of cervical intraepithelial neoplasia 2 in adolescents and young women. *Obstet Gynecol*. Dec 2010;116(6):1373-1380.
- 19. Castle PE, Schiffman M, Wheeler CM, Solomon D. Evidence for frequent regression of cervical intraepithelial neoplasia-grade 2. *Obstet Gynecol.* Jan 2009;113(1):18-25.
- 20. Schiffman M, Wentzensen N. From human papillomavirus to cervical cancer. *Obstet Gynecol.* Jul 2010;116(1):177-185.
- 21. Castle PE, Stoler MH, Solomon D, Schiffman M. The relationship of community biopsydiagnosed cervical intraepithelial neoplasia grade 2 to the quality control pathologyreviewed diagnoses: an ALTS report. *Am J Clin Pathol.* May 2007;127(5):805-815.
- 22. Stoler MH, Schiffman M. Interobserver reproducibility of cervical cytologic and histologic interpretations: realistic estimates from the ASCUS-LSIL Triage Study. *JAMA*. Mar 21 2001;285(11):1500-1505.
- 23. Bergeron C, Ordi J, Schmidt D, Trunk MJ, Keller T, Ridder R. Conjunctive p16INK4a testing significantly increases accuracy in diagnosing high-grade cervical intraepithelial neoplasia. *Am J Clin Pathol.* Mar 2010;133(3):395-406.
- 24. Galgano MT, Castle PE, Atkins KA, Brix WK, Nassau SR, Stoler MH. Using biomarkers as objective standards in the diagnosis of cervical biopsies. *The American journal of surgical pathology*. Aug 2010;34(8):1077-1087.
- 25. Bekkers RL, van der Donck M, Klaver FM, van Minnen A, Massuger LF. Variables influencing anxiety of patients with abnormal cervical smears referred for colposcopy. *Journal of psychosomatic obstetrics and gynaecology*. Dec 2002;23(4):257-261.
- 26. Brooks SE, Gordon NJ, Keller SJ, Thomas SK, Chen TT, Moses G. Association of knowledge, anxiety, and fear with adherence to follow up for colposcopy. *J Low Genit Tract Dis.* Jan 2002;6(1):17-22.
- 27. Ghaem-Maghami S, Sagi S, Majeed G, Soutter WP. Incomplete excision of cervical intraepithelial neoplasia and risk of treatment failure: a meta-analysis. *The lancet oncology*. Nov 2007;8(11):985-993.
- 28. Crane JM. Pregnancy outcome after loop electrosurgical excision procedure: a systematic review. *Obstet Gynecol*. Nov 2003;102(5 Pt 1):1058-1062.
- 29. Crane J. Review: excisional, and perhaps ablative treatments for precancerous cervical changes increase the risk for preterm birth. *Evidence-based medicine*. Jun 2012;17(3):92-93.
- 30. Kyrgiou M, Koliopoulos G, Martin-Hirsch P, Arbyn M, Prendiville W, Paraskevaidis E. Obstetric outcomes after conservative treatment for intraepithelial or early invasive cervical lesions: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet.* 2006;367(9509):489-498.

- 31. Arbyn M, Kyrgiou M, Simoens C, et al. Perinatal mortality and other severe adverse pregnancy outcomes associated with treatment of cervical intraepithelial neoplasia: meta-analysis. *Bmj.* 2008;337:a1284.
- 32. Bruinsma FJ, Quinn MA. The risk of preterm birth following treatment for precancerous changes in the cervix: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BJOG : an international journal of obstetrics and gynaecology*. Aug 2011;118(9):1031-1041.
- 33. Saslow D, Solomon D, Lawson HW, et al. American Cancer Society, American Society for Colposcopy and Cervical Pathology, and American Society for Clinical Pathology screening guidelines for the prevention and early detection of cervical cancer. *Am J Clin Pathol.* Apr 2012;137(4):516-542.
- 34. Moyer VA. Screening for cervical cancer: U.S. Preventive Services Task Force recommendation statement. *Annals of internal medicine*. Jun 19 2012;156(12):880-891, W312.
- 35. Kulasingam SL, Havrilesky L, Ghebre R, Myers ER. Screening for Cervical Cancer: A Decision Analysis for the U.S. Preventive Services Task Force. Rockville (MD)2011.
- 36. Massad LS, Einstein MH, Huh WK, et al. 2012 updated consensus guidelines for the management of abnormal cervical cancer screening tests and cancer precursors. *J Low Genit Tract Dis*. Apr 2013;17(5 Suppl 1):S1-S27.
- 37. Berkowitz Z, Saraiya M, Benard V, Yabroff KR. Common abnormal results of pap and human papillomavirus cotesting: what physicians are recommending for management. *Obstet Gynecol.* Dec 2010;116(6):1332-1340.
- 38. Forrest CB, Fiks AG, Bailey LC, et al. Improving adherence to otitis media guidelines with clinical decision support and physician feedback. *Pediatrics*. Apr 2013;131(4):e1071-1081.
- 39. Harrington R, Coffin J, Chauhan B. Understanding how the Physician Quality Reporting System affects primary care physicians. *The Journal of medical practice management : MPM*. Jan-Feb 2013;28(4):248-250.
- 40. Maclaughlin KL, Garrison GM, Matthews MR, O'Brien ML, Westby E, Targonski PV. Increased Adherence to Prenatal Group B Streptococcal Screening Guidelines Through a Paired Electronic Reminder and Education Intervention. *Maternal and child health journal*. Feb 17 2013.
- 41. Berkowitz Z, Saraiya M, Sawaya GF. Cervical Cancer Screening Intervals, 2006 to 2009: Moving Beyond Annual Testing. *JAMA internal medicine*. Apr 8 2013:1-3.
- 42. Lefevre ML. Swimming Upstream: Doing Less in Health Care Is Hard Comment on "No Papanicolaou Tests in Women Younger Than 21 Years or After Hysterectomy for Benign Disease" and "Cervical Cancer Screening Intervals, 2006 to 2009". *JAMA internal medicine*. Apr 8 2013:1-2.
- 43. Yabroff KR, Zapka J, Klabunde CN, et al. Systems strategies to support cancer screening in U.S. primary care practice. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* Dec 2011;20(12):2471-2479.
- 44. Guyatt GH, Oxman AD, Vist GE, et al. GRADE: an emerging consensus on rating quality of evidence and strength of recommendations. *Bmj.* Apr 26 2008;336(7650):924-926.
- 45. Canfell K, Barnabas R, Patnick J, Beral V. The predicted effect of changes in cervical screening practice in the UK: results from a modelling study. *British journal of cancer*. Aug 2 2004;91(3):530-536.

- 46. Goldhaber-Fiebert JD, Stout NK, Salomon JA, Kuntz KM, Goldie SJ. Cost-effectiveness of cervical cancer screening with human papillomavirus DNA testing and HPV-16,18 vaccination. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* Mar 5 2008;100(5):308-320.
- 47. Sasieni PD, Cuzick J, Lynch-Farmery E. Estimating the efficacy of screening by auditing smear histories of women with and without cervical cancer. The National Co-ordinating Network for Cervical Screening Working Group. *British journal of cancer*. 1996;73(8):1001-1005.
- 48. Stout NK, Goldhaber-Fiebert JD, Ortendahl JD, Goldie SJ. Trade-offs in cervical cancer prevention: balancing benefits and risks. *Archives of internal medicine*. Sep 22 2008;168(17):1881-1889.
- 49. Henderson JT, Saraiya M, Martinez G, Harper CC, Sawaya GF. Changes to cervical cancer prevention guidelines: effects on screening among U.S. women ages 15-29. *Preventive medicine*. Jan 2013;56(1):25-29.
- 50. Lee JW, Berkowitz Z, Saraiya M. Low-risk human papillomavirus testing and other nonrecommended human papillomavirus testing practices among U.S. health care providers. *Obstet Gynecol.* Jul 2011;118(1):4-13.
- 51. Roland KB, Benard VB, Soman A, Breen N, Kepka D, Saraiya M. Cervical cancer screening among young adult women in the United States. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* Apr 2013;22(4):580-588.
- 52. Saraiya M, Berkowitz Z, Yabroff KR, Wideroff L, Kobrin S, Benard V. Cervical cancer screening with both human papillomavirus and Papanicolaou testing vs Papanicolaou testing alone: what screening intervals are physicians recommending? *Archives of internal medicine*. Jun 14 2010;170(11):977-985.
- 53. Kola S, Walsh JC. Patients' psychological reactions to colposcopy and LLETZ treatment for cervical intraepithelial neoplasia. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol.* May 30 2009.
- 54. Kahn JA, Slap GB, Bernstein DI, et al. Psychological, behavioral, and interpersonal impact of human papillomavirus and Pap test results. *J Womens Health (Larchmt)*. Sep 2005;14(7):650-659.
- 55. Kahn JA, Slap GB, Bernstein DI, et al. Personal meaning of human papillomavirus and Pap test results in adolescent and young adult women. *Health psychology : official journal of the Division of Health Psychology, American Psychological Association*. Mar 2007;26(2):192-200.
- 56. Lerner D, Parsons SK, Justicia-Linde F, et al. The impact of precancerous cervical lesions on functioning at work and work productivity. *Journal of occupational and environmental medicine / American College of Occupational and Environmental Medicine*. Sep 2010;52(9):926-933.
- 57. Percac-Lima S, Aldrich LS, Gamba GB, Bearse AM, Atlas SJ. Barriers to follow-up of an abnormal Pap smear in Latina women referred for colposcopy. *Journal of general internal medicine*. Nov 2010;25(11):1198-1204.
- 58. Sharp L, Cotton S, Carsin AE, et al. Factors associated with psychological distress following colposcopy among women with low-grade abnormal cervical cytology: a prospective study within the Trial Of Management of Borderline and Other Low-grade Abnormal smears (TOMBOLA). *Psycho-oncology*. Feb 2013;22(2):368-380.